
Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to City Hall at 503-374-1752. 

 

City of Rockaway Beach 
City Council Workshop Agenda       
 

Date:   Wednesday, April 9, 2025  
Time:   4:30 P.M. – 5:40 P.M. 
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 HWY 101 – 2nd Floor Conference Room  
 
Watch live stream here:  corb.us/live-stream 
View meeting later here: corb.us/city-council 
 
Join here to attend remotely:  
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84991247893?pwd=CUH7fbUldRSrgsJgvT7yaI2kepNesF.1 
Meeting ID: 849 9124 7893 
Passcode: 720664 
Dial by your location 
253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
 
What is a City Council Workshop? Workshops are intended to allow for preliminary discussions by the City 
Council and staff. Workshops are held to present information to the Council so that the Council is prepared 
for upcoming regular meetings. Workshops are subject to Oregon’s public meeting law and must be noticed 
accordingly. No final City Council decisions are made during workshops. The public is encouraged to attend 
workshops but may not participate unless expressly asked. 

 
Note: Agenda item times are estimates and are subject to change. 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER (4:30 p.m.) 
 

2. ROLL CALL   
 

3. COUNCIL BRIEFING/DISCUSSION 
 

a. Review Small Community Grant Recommendations (4:31 p.m.) 
 

b. Review Sustainable Northwest Memo Regarding Next Steps Towards Acquisition and 
Management of Jetty Creek Watershed - Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) 
(5:00 p.m.) 

 
c. Review of Draft Revisions to City Council Rules & Procedures (5:10 p.m.) 

 
d. Other Regular Session Agenda Items Review (5:30 p.m.) 

 
 

4. ADJOURNMENT (5:35 p.m.) 

https://corb.us/live-stream
https://corb.us/city-council/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84991247893?pwd=CUH7fbUldRSrgsJgvT7yaI2kepNesF.1


City of Rockaway Beach, Oregon 
 276 S. Highway 101, PO Box 5 

 Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 
503.374.1752 

 

 

Staff Report – Review of Small Community Grant Award Recommendations  Page 1 of 2 

 
STAFF REPORT 
 
Date:   April 2, 2025 
To:   City Council 
From:  Luke Shepard, City Manager 
Subject: Review of Small Community Grant Award Recommendations 
              
 

ISSUE STATEMENT 

The City Council will consider approving Small Community Grant Awards by Resolution at the regular 
meeting.  The Small Community Grant applications and proposed Resolution to award grants are 
included in the agenda packet for the Council’s review. 

 

BACKGROUND 

The Council appropriated $75,000 for the Community Grant Program in the 2024-2025 fiscal year 
adopted budget. The Small Community Grant provides funding to non-profit, not-for-profit 
organizations and community entities that serve the Rockaway Beach community in the amount of 
$4,999.99 or less. The Planning Commission has reviewed applications based on established grant 
evaluation criteria and has made funding recommendations to the City Council. A total of six 
applications were received and all were recommended for funding, totaling $22,773.58.   

 
Planning Commission Recommendations: 
 
At their March 20, 2025 regular meeting, the Planning Commission recommend that the City Council 
award Small Community Grants in the dollar amounts and subject to the conditions indicated below: 
 
Tillamook County Developmental Disabilities: $1,000 
Rockaway Beach Business Association: $4,999 
Friends of Rockaway Beach Library: $1,864 
North Coast Communities for Watershed Protection (NCCWP): $4,980 subject to the agreement that 
to not spend the funds for administration purposes. 
Neah-Kah-Nie Coast Arts Music & Cultural Foundation (NCAM): $4,999 
International Police Museum: $4,931.58; subject to the agreement that the meeting room will be 
made available to all community members on the same basis. 
 

Both NCCWP and NCAM have met conditions by providing written agreement (attached). 

 



 

 

Staff Report – Review of Small Community Grant Award Recommendations  Page 2 of 2 
 

CITY MANAGER’S COMMENT 

Exemption Regarding Potential Conflicts of Interest: 

Several Council members are also members of local nonprofit groups. As a nonprofit member, 

Councilors are exempt from potential conflicts of interest related to the consideration of these grant 

awards and may vote on the matter without making a public announcement or giving a written 

notice. State law [ORS 244.020(13)(c)] provides that: 

 (13) “Potential conflict of interest” means any action or any decision or recommendation by a person acting 

in a capacity as a public official, the effect of which could be to the private pecuniary benefit or detriment of 

the person or the person’s relative, or a business with which the person or the person’s relative is associated, 

unless the pecuniary benefit or detriment arises out of the following: 

… 

      (c) Membership in or membership on the board of directors of a nonprofit corporation that is tax-exempt 

under section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

 

COUNCIL OPTIONS 

The Council may: 

• Approve awards as recommended by the Planning Commission.    

• Revise the Planning Commission award recommendations. 

To revise awards, come to consensus on changes in the Workshop. In the Regular 

Meeting, make a motion to amend Resolution 2025-15 in the Regular Meeting prior to a 

motion to approve the amended Resolution. 

• Provide other or no direction, as desired. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

• Applicant’s Written Agreement to Conditions 

• Resolution No. 2025-15 Approving Awards for the 2024-2025 Small Community Grant 
Program 

• Small Community Grant Applications (in agenda packet) 
 

FOR MORE INFORMATION 

Staff Contact:  Luke Shepard, City Manager 
Telephone:  (503) 374-1752  
Staff E-Mail: citymanager@corb.us   



1

From: nancy webster <rockawaycitizen.water@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, March 28, 2025 10:57 AM
To: City Planner
Cc: City Manager; Melissa Thompson; Lark Reifenstahl; Lyndsey Matteson
Subject: Re: Small Community Grant Application - North Coast Communities for Watershed 

Protection

Dear Mary Johnson,  
 
We are thrilled to hear the Planning Commission recommended funding the grant request for the eligible items! I would 
like to confirm, under no uncertain terms, that we will not use any of the grant funds to pay for NCCWP staffing 
hours. This was an oversight in filling out the application, and I appreciate your understanding. Please let me know if 
there are any other questions I can answer. Thank you! 
 
Best, 
Nancy Webster 
North Coast Communities for Watershed Protection 
 
On Fri, Mar 21, 2025 at 7:41 PM City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote: 

Hi Nancy, 

  

Last night our Planning Commission met and made funding recommendations on the Small Community Grant 
applications that were received.  The application that was received from NCCWP made a funding request in the amount 
of $4,999.99, however included in the expense descriptions was a request for staffing hours ($3,600) which is not an 
eligible item. 

  

The remaining items, which were eligible under the grant terms, totaled $4,980. 

  

The Planning Commission recommended funding the grant request for the eligible items, totaling $4,980, and directed 
staff to make it clear that NCCWP staffing hours cannot be funded through this grant.  If awarded by the City Council, 
these grant funds may be use for the items you have described on p. 6 of your application, excluding NCCWP staffing 
hours.  

  

For your reference, I’ve attached your grant application and the Small Community Grant flyer.  Please note that 
ineligible projects (p. 4) include “day-to-day operational expenses and payroll”. 

  

Please confirm in writing, prior to the Council meeting on April 9th, that if awarded, the grant funds will not be used for 
NCCWP staffing hours. 

NCCWP Agreement to Conditions



2

  

Thank you,  

  

  

 

Mary Johnson 
City Planner 

City of Rockaway Beach  
(503) 374-1752 
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136  

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us    

  

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt from disclosure 
under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or privileged information. If you are 
not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to 
others. 

  

  

NCCWP Agreement to Conditions



1

From: Ed Wortman <edl195@aol.com>
Sent: Monday, March 24, 2025 12:24 PM
To: City Planner
Cc: Jane McClain; Melissa Thompson; Lark Reifenstahl
Subject: Re: Small Community Grant Application - International Police Museum

Thank you Mary 
We look forward to opening May 15.  
Ed 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
 

On Mar 24, 2025, at 9:28 AM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote: 

  
Hi Ed, 
  
Thanks for the email back and confirming that IPM’s meeting room will be available to all members of 
the public.  That was all we needed to confirm to move the funding recommendation forward to the City 
Council. 
  
During the Planning Commission meeting, there was some discussion regarding who would be allowed 
to use the meeting room.  If you’re interested in viewing the discussion, you can check it out on our 
website here: https://youtu.be/g4j1OZtZMJ4 
  
  

<image001.jpg> Mary Johnson 
City Planner 
City of Rockaway Beach  
(503) 374-1752 
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136  
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us    

  
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt 
from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or 
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and 
delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others. 
  
  
From: Ed Wortman <edl195@aol.com>  
Sent: Sunday, March 23, 2025 8:20 PM 
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> 
Cc: Jane McClain <jane@internationalpolicemuseum.org> 
Subject: Re: Small Community Grant Application - International Police Museum 
  
Mary, 
Thank you for letting me know of the Planning. Commission concerns.  We were surprised, 
as IPM has always been welcoming to all.  

Intl Police Museum Agreement to Conditions



2

I was in Seattle over the weekend. May I call you on Tuesday to discuss the specific issues 
which were raised?  We want to continue to be a good partner with the City and all of the 
public.  
Please cc Jane,  our Board Secretary, on all grant correspondence so we don’t miss an 
email. 
Thanks for your assistance, 
Ed 
206 999-8474 
  
  
Sent from my iPhone 
 
 
 

On Mar 21, 2025, at 12:26 PM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote: 

  
Hi Ed, 
  
Last night our Planning Commission met and made funding recommendations on the 
Small Community Grant applications that were received.  During their deliberations, 
there were questions regarding who would have access to the meeting room.  Some 
members of the Planning Commission were concerned that the meeting room would not 
be available to all members of the public and that its use may be restricted. 
  
Please confirm in writing, prior to the Council meeting on April 9th, that the meeting 
room will be available to all members of the public or provide details on how the room’s 
use would be limited. 
  
For your reference, I’ve attached the IPM grant application and the flyer for the Small 
Community Grant. 
  
Thank you,  
  
  

<image001.jpg> Mary Johnson 
City Planner 
City of Rockaway Beach  
(503) 374-1752 
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136  
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us    

  
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public 
disclosure unless exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to 
unintended recipients and contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or 
authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or 
forwarding to others. 
  
  
  

  

Intl Police Museum Agreement to Conditions



 

Resolution No. 2025-15 Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-15 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AWARDS FOR THE 2024-2025 
SMALL COMMUNITY GRANT PROGRAM 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council appropriated $75,000 for the Community Grant Program in the 
2024-2025 fiscal year adopted budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Small Community Grant provides funding to non-profit, not-for-profit 
organizations and community entities that serve the Rockaway Beach community in the 
amount of $4,999.99 or less; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed applications based on established 
grant evaluation criteria and has made funding recommendations to the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the grant applications and Planning Commission 
recommendations, and has determined to award the following grants to applicants as 
specified below.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby awards 2024-2025 

Small Community Grants to the following recipients in the amounts 
 specified below:     . 

 
Recipient & Event/Project Grant Amount: 
Tillamook County Developmental Disabilities 
3rd Annual Intellectual/Developmental Disabilities Picnic $ 1,000 

Rockaway Beach Business Association 
Fundraiser projects $ 4,999 

Friends of Rockaway Beach Library 
Entrance railing & Square device $ 1,864 

North Coast Communities for Watershed Protection 
Speaker Series $ 4,980 

Neah-Kah-Nie Coast Arts Music & Cultural 
Foundation 
3rd Annual Writers Rendezvous 

$ 4,999 

International Police Museum 
Community Room furniture, displays & storage $ 4,931.58 

 
 

Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 



 

Resolution No. 2025-15 Page 2 of 2 

 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 9th DAY OF APRIL  
2025. 

 
APPROVED 

 
 
             
        Charles McNeilly, Mayor 
ATTEST 
 
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 
 

 











































CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 2024/2025

APPLICATION

APPLICANT INFORMATION

Organization Name Rockaway Beach Business Association (RBBA)

Contact Name Debbie Weissenfluh Title Board Member RBBA

lh.er 773-551-4979 Email debweissenfluhdebweissenfluh@gmall. comrt)baor@gmail. com

Organization Type ̂ n profit

Physical Address ̂ «, ̂ ^^^ ̂  Rockaway Beach 971 36
Mailing Address p^ g^ ̂ gg Rockaway Beach 97136

PROJECT CHECKLIST

(y) Complete Application

 

'/) Attach Plans,, as needed

[^/) Submit Application by 12:00 pm on March 6, ; 025

Preferred delivery format is one combined PDF with all documents f'n order listed above. The City of Rockaway Beach will
accept multiple PDF documents if titled in the following format; [Organization Name, Page X of X]. Paper copies will also be
accepted. You will receive an ema/7 confirmation of receipt from the Grant Manager within 2 business days ofsubmittal. It is
the Applicant's responsibility to verify successful receipt of application. If confirmation is not received in the allotted time
frame, contact the Grant Manager via email.

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Project Title RBBA 2025 Fundraiser Projects

Grant Request $4, 999

Total Project Cost $4 999

Questions? Need assistance?
Grant Manager, Lark Reifenstahl

LReifenstahl(a>corb.us
(503) 374-1752 ext. 104



PROJECT DESCRIPTION

/Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

Provide a complete description of the project's intended function and demographic(s) that
will be served by the project. If relevant, attach design drawings, plans, etc.

RBBA works with the city of Rockaway Beach and other non profits to include, The Easter
Egg Hunt, 4th of July fundraising, Trunk or Treat and The Christmas Tree lighting event.

Easter Egg Hunt: We have over a dozen raffle baskets from various local artisans and
vendors, a pancake breakfast at the Rockaway Beach Firehouse (by donation), an Easter
Hunt and A Scavenger hunt with prizes for children and adults. We work within the local
area to get donations and discounted products for this fundraiser.

4th of July Fundraiser Booth: We offer a wide variety of patriotic hats, shirts, leis, beads,
wands and even fur baby costumes. Townspeople can wear their purchases in the parade
or on the route creating a visual impact of celebration.

Trunk or Treat: We have over 20 decorated car trunks, a pumpkin patch, hot cider, hot
dogs, and other munchies. We have pictures with Punkin Pete with a fall background. We
decorate our park turning it into a Halloween extravaganza!

Tree Lighting: The day after Thanksgiving we light up our Holiday Tree. The Wayside is
turned into a winter wonderland of decoraitons! We will have raffle baskets from our local
businesses. We have complimentary hot chocolate and cookies and treats from Santa.



HEALTHY COMMUNITY

Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

Explain how the project contributes to a healthier local community.
A healthy community is one where access to fresh, healthy foods are available, educational
resources are provided, physical fitness is promoted, recreational opportunities are
encouraged, medical and mental health needs are met, and the environment is cared for.

RBBA interaction is a big part of community health. By sponsoring events that engage the
local friends and family members of all ages, we promote healthy lifestyle by sharing a meal
(that includes healthy options). This helps create a sense of belonging and connection
which can reduce stress and strengthen relationships. The Easter Egg and Scavenge hunt
promotes walking, teamwork, as well as mental stimulation. Most of this event takes place
outdoors which is great for mental and physical health.

The 4th of July Fundraiser Booth contributes to mental well-being and fosters a positive
lifestyle. Wearing patriotic attire fosters a sense of belonging, strengthens community bonds
and reduces feelings of isolation. The fundraiser can inspire more volunteering and support
within our community. The booth and corresponding 4th of July activities are outdoors which
is great for vitamin D and overall health.

The Trunk or Treat provides an active fast paced walking (and running) atmosphere for
parents and children! Dressing up and the festive atmosphere offer a distraction from daily
stresses. The fun and excitement of the event can offer positive memories which and have
a long-term impact on mental health. Breathing in that crisp fall air is a great promoter of
well being.

The Community Tree Lighting is a long standing tradition. Walking to and from the event
and participating in the activities as well as volunteering for decoration and tearing down are
a great way to make this a very healthy event. Spending time outdoors, especially during
the winter months can provide fresh air for overall health benefits. The event fosters a
sense of community and belonging reducing feelings of isolation and loneliness, which can
have a positive impact on mental well-being,



INCLUSIVE COMMUNITY

Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

Explain how the project assists the Eocal community in promoting inclusivity.
In an inclusive community diversity is valued, social opportunities are plentiful, community
involvement thrives, and residents work together to support city initiatives and projects.

The combination of a pancake breakfast and egg hunt attracts people of all ages,
encouraging interaction and connection between different generations. The scavenger hunt
encourages teamwork and collaboration, as participants work together to solve clues and
find the hidden baskets. Proceeds from the event support the Rockaway Beach Volunteer
Firefighters Association and the Rockaway Beach Business Association, demonstrating a
commitment to the community's well-being and economic vitality. By highlighting the
involvement of local businesses in the event, the organizers encourage community
members to support local enterprises. The event celebrates the community's spirit and
encourages residents to take pride in their town. The event caters to all ages, ensuring that
everyone has the opportunity to participate and enjoy the festivities. The event is held at
the Rockaway Beach Fire House and Phyllis Baker Park, locations that are easily
accessible to all community members. The pancake breakfast is offered by donation,
making it accessible to families of all income levels. The event brings together community
members to support a common cause, fostering a sense of shared purpose and collective
action. The event relies on volunteers to organize and execute, providing an opportunity for
community members to contribute their time and skills to a worthwhile cause.The proceeds
from the event will directly benefit the community, supporting essential services and local
businesses.

By selling 4th of July merchandise The funraiser itself creates opportunities for volunteering
and interaction between businesses and all ages of community members. The Business
Association can create a platform for community engagement, foster a sense of shared
purpose, and strengthen the bonds that connect residents,

People of all ages share the spirit of Halloween and reinforce the idea that Rockaway
Beach is a place where people come together to celebrate fun. It provides a casual and fun
environment for residents to meet their neighbors, especially those who may be new to the
area. By making this an annual event it becomes a tradition that strengthens community
bonds and creates lasting memories. It's a valuable community-building initiative that
strengthens social connections.



CHARITABLE COMMUNITY

Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

Explain how the project supports local charitable efforts.
Charitable communities value giving back to others, promote volunteer opporutnities, and
strive to meet the needs of the local community.

The Easter Egg Hunt, 4th of July Fundraiser Booth, Trunk or Treat and the Tree Lighting
offer volunteer opportunities for cooking, serving, cleaning, egg hiding, event
coordination, family assistance, monitoring, prize distribution, setup, takedown,
marketing and promotion. Volunteering fosters a sense of community pride and
strengthen social bonds. All of this helps to keep the town vibrant. This benefits the
community directly by contributing to the success of the Rockaway Beach Volunteer
Firefighters Association and the Rockaway Beach Business Association. Each and every
one of these events is an annual opportunity to provide continued services to meet new
people and make a positive impact.

SUITABLE COMMUNITY

Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

Explain how the project encourages equity throughout the local community.
Equitable communities provide a helping hand to residents in need and meet the needs of
underserved community members.

Easter Egg Hunt, 4th of July Fundraiser Booth, Trunk or Treat and Tree Lighting play a
role in supporting vulnerable populations. Many individuals, especially seniors or those
with disabilities experience social isolation. These events provide opportunities for
connectgion and interaction which can improve mental health. For thsoe with limited
social networks these gatherings can be a vital source of belonging. Free or low-cost
events like these make recreation accessible to everyone, regardless of income. This is
especially important for families with limited financial resources. The "donation-based"
pancake breakfast is a great example of this. The festive atmosphere of each event can
be very uplifitng. By bringing people together, these events can help build informal
networks within the community, where neighbors can help neighbors. In a small
community like Rockaway Beach, these events are very important. They help to keep the
community connected and provide support to those who may need it.



PROJECT BUDGET

Income

City of Rockaway Beach Small Community Grant

Other Income

BUDGET

$4, 999

Hatching amounts are NOT required, but if your project exceeds the grant fund limit, use this section to add additional
funding resources

$

$

$

TOTAL INCOME

$ 4, 999

Expenses

Description Estimate Obtained (Y/N) Budget

If estimates from tentative vendors have been obtained, please attach those to the application.

Expenses - See Attached

Less: Excess over grant amount

TOTAL BUDGET

$ 5, 740

$ ( 741)
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$4, 999
Tota/ income should equal total expenses



AUTHORIZATIONS AND CERTiFICAJIONS
Initial the following authorizations and certifications

I am an eligible Applicant and submitted an eligible project. Refer to above grant

DW

DW

DW

DW

DW

DW

DW

information for details.

I agree to comply with federal, state, and local rules and regulations, where
applicable.

Legal title affirmation. I understand that legal title to the completed project must be
held for at least 3 years following the project completion or that some other
arrangement, satisfactory to the City of Rockaway Beach, will be put in place to protect
the investment of public funds in this project for a 3-year period.
Required for facility improvement projects only.

I agree to provide a W9-Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and
Certification. I certify that the Federal Employer Identification Number and business
type provided in the above application is accurate and the organization is not subject
to back-up withholding.

I agree to provide current, executed Articles of Incorporation or Organization for
the non-profit or not for profit organization.
Not applicable to other community entities.

I give permission to the City f Rockaway Beach to use my project for public
information, promotional, and educational purposes.

Hold harmless and Indemnification. I agree to hold the City of Rockaway Beach
harmless for any liens, claims, damages, or other liabilities related to the project, and to
indemnify and defend the City of Rockaway Beach from any claims, costs, damages, or
expenses of any kind, including attorney's fees and other costs and expenses of
litigation, arising out of the project.

Authorization. I certify to the best of my knowledge that all information contained in
this application, including all attachments, certifications, is valid and accurate. ! further
certify that the application has been reviewed and approved by the authorized
owner(s), manager(s) with appropriately delegated authority and/or in accordance with
the organization's Articles of Incorporation or Organization.

Digitally signed by Deb
Welssenfluh
Date: 2025.03. 05 13:30:46
-08'QO'

Printed Name Deb Weissenfluh

Date 3/5/25

Title Board Member



Easter Egg Hunt

Pancake Breakfast
Food................ .............. 574
Beverage......................... 150
Utensils, napkins, misc....... 128
Decor, table cloths............. 105
Permit fee......................... 35

Auction baskets (12) 20 each.... 240
Prizes for scavenger hunt

Children's baskets.............. 140
Adult Baskets.................... 140

Advertisement flyer printing.... . . 125
TOTAL COST........................ 1637

4th of July Fundraiser Booth

T-shirts.................. .. ..... .. .. 274
Pet costumes........................ 135
Hats.................................... 148
Earrings................................ 27
Advertisement flyer printing..... . 125
Face jewels, tattoos, sparklers.. 199
TOTAL COST........................ 908

Trunk or Treat

Treat Bags........................... 280
Apple Cider.......................... 160
Hot dogs & Snacks................ 950
Paper products..................... 198
Decor.................................. 248
Advertising flyer printing.......... 125
TOTAL COST........................ 1961



Tree Lighting

Cookies.......... .................... 225
Hot Chocolate...................... 150
Treats.................................. 225

Canopy (2)............................ 359
Decorations........................... 150

Advertising flyer printing........... 125
TOTAL COST......................... 1234

















Complete Application
Attach Plans, as needed
Submit Application by 12:00 pm on March 6, 2025

Questions?  Need assistance?
Grant Manager, Lark Reifenstahl

LReifenstahl@corb.us
(503) 374-1752 ext. 104

2024/2025CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

SMALL COMMUNITY GRANT
APPLICATION

Organization Name

Contact Name

Phone Number

Organization Type

Physical Address

Mailing Address

APPLICANT INFORMATION

Title

Email

 

PROJECT CHECKLIST

 

 

  

 

                    
                     

                      
                  

        

North Coast Communities for Watershed Protection

Nancy Webster President

971-386-3788 rockawaycitizen.water@gmail.com

Nonprofit

26536 White Dove Lane Rockaway Beach, Or 97316

P.O. Box 1291 Rockaway Beach, Or 97136

Preferred  delivery  format  is  one  combined  PDF  with  all  documents  in  order  listed  above.  The  City  of  Rockaway  Beach  will 
accept  multiple  PDF  documents  if  titled  in  the  following  format;  [Organization  Name,  Page  X  of  X].  Paper  copies  will  also  be 
accepted.  You  will  receive  an  email  confirmation  of  receipt  from  the  Grant  Manager  within  2  business  days  of  submittal.  It  is
the  Applicant’s  responsibility  to  verify  successful  receipt  of  application.  If  confirmation  is  not  received  in  the  allotted  time 
frame,  contact  the  Grant  Manager  via  email.

PROJECT  OVERVIEW
Project  Title  Speaker Series: Ensuring the Air We Breathe and the Water We Drink are Safe

Grant  Request  4,999.99
Total  Project  Cost  8580.00



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Provide a complete description of the project’s intended function and demographic(s) that
will be served by the project.  If relevant, attach design drawings, plans, etc.
NCCWP proposes to host a speaker series 'Ensuring the Air We Breathe and the Water 
We Drink are Safe ' as a public forum for community education and engagement on the 
critical issue of protecting the quality and quantity of drinking water in Rockaway Beach. 
The series will bring three expert speakers to the community, each addressing key aspects 
of safeguarding coastal drinking watersheds, with a focus on sustainable practices that 
protect water sources.
This in-person event aims to educate and empower local residents by providing 
science-based insights into the impact of industrial forest practices on watersheds, 
particularly the effects of  aerial and ground pesticide spraying. As well as practical 
solutions for preserving clean water. The speakers will offer expertise on how these 
practices affect both water quality and quantity, and how communities can advocate for 
responsible forest management to ensure a sustainable water future.
The goals of this series align with NCCWP's mission to educate the community on the vital 
connection between forest practices, clean water, and air.  By raising awareness, the 
series will create a more informed, active community dedicated to advocating for 
responsible environmental practices that protect the natural resources essential to our 
health and well-being. A healthy community depends on a healthy ecosystem.
Format: The series will be held in person, during 2025. We don't have exact dates locked 
in yet. Time slots will be the third Saturday of the month: 12:00-2:00pm. Location: St. Mary 
by the Sea Catholic Church, Rockaway Beach. Format: Speaker presentation with slides, 
followed by a Q&A session for community networking and engagement. The event will 
conclude with a reception featuring food and drinks from local businesses, including 
Barview Jetty Store and Wolfmoon Bakery.
Proposed speakers: 
Ernie Niemi-an economist and environmental advocate known for his work in the areas of 
sustainability, natural resources, and environmental policy. He has been involved in 
projects that examine the intersection of economic development and environmental 
preservation, often focusing on the value of natural systems and the potential of green 
economies.
Deke Gunderson-a professional in the field of sustainability, environmental advocacy, and 
community development. He has been involved in various initiatives focused on ecological 
health, conservation, and responsible resource management. Gundersen is known for his 
expertise in connecting environmental issues with practical solutions for communities, 
businesses, and governments.
Linda Perrine-an individual known for her work in the environmental and sustainability 
sectors. She has contributed to various community initiatives, particularly in the fields of 
conservation, resource management, and environmental education.



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

HEALTHY COMMUNITY

Explain how the project contributes to a healthier local community.  
A healthy community is one where access to fresh, healthy foods are available, educational
resources are provided, physical fitness is promoted, recreational opportunities are
encouraged, medical and mental health needs are met, and the environment is cared for. 

The speaker series,''Ensuring the Air We Breathe and the Water We Drink are Safe" 
directly contributes to a healthier local community by addressing a critical environmental 
issue that underpins public health—clean and safe drinking water. Access to fresh, healthy 
food and water is fundamental to community well-being, and protecting the quality and 
quantity of the Jetty Creek watershed ensures that the residents of Rockaway Beach have 
a sustainable source of clean drinking water for years to come.
This speaker series will not only educate the community about the importance of water 
conservation and pollution prevention, but it will also promote environmental stewardship. 
Educating residents about the direct link between water quality and public health creates a 
sense of responsibility and empowerment, motivating people to take action to protect their 
local environment. This kind of engagement encourages long-term community participation 
in safeguarding natural resources, which benefits everyone’ s physical health by ensuring 
the availability of safe drinking water.
Moreover, the series will provide a platform for learning about the broader impacts of 
watershed protection, which touches on many aspects of community health. For instance, 
clean water impacts mental health by reducing stress related to concerns over water 
contamination and scarcity. Additionally, by highlighting recreational opportunities within the 
watershed, the series encourages physical activity in a natural, scenic environment, which 
promotes physical fitness and overall well-being.
This project fosters education, action, and advocacy to protect a vital natural 
resource—water—thereby supporting a healthy, thriving, and environmentally conscious 
community.



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

INCLUSIVE COMMUNITY

Explain how the project assists the local community in promoting inclusivity.  
In an inclusive community diversity is valued, social opportunities are plentiful, community
involvement thrives, and residents work together to support city initiatives and projects.
The proposed in-person speaker series will be free and open to the public to permit 
community engagement with  knowledgeable presenters. Topics will be relevant to drinking 
watershed protection of concern to us all, to enable community members to better 
understand where their water  comes from, the importance of watershed protection and 
ecologically sustainable forest  plans, so that they can more informatively get involved in 
planning Jetty Creek's future. A weekend timeslot should make the series more amenable 
to working folks' schedules. A reception with food and drink will follow the Q&A to provide 
an opportunity for community interaction and networking. 
NCCWP will widely publicize each event through electronic and social media to reach as  
broad an audience as possible. We will outreach with posters/flyers, phone trees and local 
newspapers.   



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

CHARITABLE COMMUNITY

Explain how the project supports local charitable efforts.  
Charitable communities value giving back to others, promote volunteer opporutnities, and
strive to meet the needs of the local community.

Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

EQUITABLE COMMUNITY

Explain how the project encourages equity throughout the local community.  
Equitable communities provide a helping hand to residents in need and meet the needs of
underserved community members.

The speaker series "Ensuring the Air We Breathe and the Water We Drink are Safe" 
supports local charitable efforts by encouraging community involvement in protecting 
drinking water sources. The project fosters a culture of giving back and volunteerism by 
educating residents about the importance of water conservation and providing 
opportunities for them to engage in local efforts.
By raising awareness and offering practical ways to help, the series motivates people to 
contribute time, energy, and resources toward preserving the watershed. It also 
strengthens partnerships between local nonprofits, government entities, and residents, 
encouraging collaboration to address community needs and create ongoing volunteer 
opportunities.
In this way, the project not only promotes environmental stewardship but also 
strengthens the spirit of charity, collaboration, and civic engagement within the 
community.

The speaker series encourages equity throughout the local community by ensuring that 
all residents, particularly those from underserved or marginalized groups, have access to 
valuable information and opportunities to get involved in protecting vital water resources. 
By making the series accessible to a diverse audience, we aim to bridge gaps in 
knowledge and empower individuals from all backgrounds to actively participate in the 
stewardship of their local watershed. By providing hands-on, volunteer-driven activities, 
we ensure that individuals can contribute regardless of their socio-economic status, 
creating an environment of shared responsibility and mutual support.
Ultimately, the project promotes environmental justice by involving all community 
members in addressing the challenges related to water conservation and ensuring that all 
voices are heard in the effort to safeguard our natural resources.



PROJECT BUDGET

Income                                                                                                                                             BUDGET

Other Income 

City of Rockaway Beach Small Community Grant                                                            $                                                

 Matching amounts are NOT required, but if your project exceeds the grant fund limit, use this section to add additional
funding resources                                                                                                    

                                                                                                                                                        $                                               
                                                                                                                                                        $                                               
                                                                                                                                                        $                                               

TOTAL INCOME

                                                                                                                                                        $                                               

Expenses                                                                                                                                          

If estimates from tentative vendors have been obtained, please attach those to the application.

                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              

                                                                                                                                                        $                                              

Description                                                                             Estimate Obtained (Y/N)         Budget

                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              

TOTAL BUDGET

Total income should equal total expenses

4999.99

NCCWP Private Donations
In-Kind Donations - 300 volunteer hours (planning, postering, setting up,
taking down, providing housing) food and beverage donations

3380.01

200

8580

900
300
900
900
180
900
3,600
900

8,580

Honoraria $300 x 3 
St. Mary Parish Hall Rental $100 x 3 
Video Recording (Jane Scott) $300 x 3
Advertising in local newspapers $300 x 3
Printing flyers at Beach Beagle $90 x 3
Food & Drinks (Barview Jetty, Wolfmoon Bakery, etc) $300 x 3
NCCWP pain staffing hours 120 x $30
Honoraria Travel Expenses (lodging, gas, food) x 3



AUTHORIZATIONS AND CERTIFICATIONS
Initial the following authorizations and certifications

Signature

Printed Name

Date

Title

  

  

  

  

 

  

  
  

I am an eligible Applicant and submitted an eligible project.  Refer to above grant  
information for details.

I agree to comply with federal, state, and local rules and regulations, where  
applicable.

Legal title affirmation.  I understand that legal title to the completed project must be 
held for at least 3 years following the project completion or that some other  
arrangement, satisfactory to the City of Rockaway Beach, will be put in place to protect
the investment of public funds in this project for a 3-year period.
Required for facility improvement projects only.

I agree to provide a W9-Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and  
Certification.  I certify that the Federal Employer Identification Number and business  
type provided in the above application is accurate and the organization is not subject  
to back-up withholding.

I agree to provide current, executed Articles of Incorporation  or Organization for  
the non-profit or not for profit organization.
Not applicable to other community entities.

I give permission to the City of Rockaway Beach to use my project for public  
information, promotional, and educational purposes.

Hold harmless and Indemnification.  I agree to hold the City of Rockaway Beach  
harmless for any liens, claims, damages, or other liabilities related to the project, and to
indemnify and defend the City of Rockaway Beach from any claims, costs, damages, or 
expenses of any kind, including attorney’s fees and other costs  and expenses of  
litigation, arising out of the project.

Authorization.  I certify to the best of my knowledge that all information contained in  
this application, including all attachments, certifications, is  valid and accurate.  I further 
certify that the application has been reviewed and approved by  the authorized
owner(s), manager(s) with appropriately delegated authority and/or in accordance with
the organization’s Articles of Incorporation or Organization.

5/5/20

 Lyndsey Matteson Volunteer Coordinator-NCCWP

LM

LM

LM

LM

LM

LM

LM

LM

Lyndsey Matteson
xxxxxx

Lyndsey Matteson
5/5/25



Complete Application
Attach Plans, as needed
Submit Application by 12:00 pm on March 6, 2025

Questions?  Need assistance?
Grant Manager, Lark Reifenstahl

LReifenstahl@corb.us
(503) 374-1752 ext. 104

2024/2025CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

SMALL COMMUNITY GRANT
APPLICATION

Organization Name

Contact Name

Phone Number

Organization Type

Physical Address

Mailing Address

APPLICANT INFORMATION

Title

Email

 

PROJECT CHECKLIST

Project Title

Grant Request

Total Project Cost

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Preferred delivery format is one combined PDF with all documents in order listed above.  The City of Rockaway Beach will
accept multiple PDF documents if titled in the following format; [Organization Name, Page X of X].  Paper copies will also be
accepted.  You will receive an email confirmation of receipt from the Grant Manager within 2 business days of submittal.  It is
the Applicant’s responsibility to verify successful receipt of application.  If confirmation is not received in the allotted time
frame, contact the Grant Manager via email.  

Kristin Koptiuch

Kristin Koptiuch
ATTTACHED AT END



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Provide a complete description of the project’s intended function and demographic(s) that
will be served by the project.  If relevant, attach design drawings, plans, etc.



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

HEALTHY COMMUNITY

Explain how the project contributes to a healthier local community.  
A healthy community is one where access to fresh, healthy foods are available, educational
resources are provided, physical fitness is promoted, recreational opportunities are
encouraged, medical and mental health needs are met, and the environment is cared for. 



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

INCLUSIVE COMMUNITY

Explain how the project assists the local community in promoting inclusivity.  
In an inclusive community diversity is valued, social opportunities are plentiful, community
involvement thrives, and residents work together to support city initiatives and projects.



Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

CHARITABLE COMMUNITY

Explain how the project supports local charitable efforts.  
Charitable communities value giving back to others, promote volunteer opporutnities, and
strive to meet the needs of the local community.

Answers must fit in the space with provided formatting.

EQUITABLE COMMUNITY

Explain how the project encourages equity throughout the local community.  
Equitable communities provide a helping hand to residents in need and meet the needs of
underserved community members.



PROJECT BUDGET

Income                                                                                                                                             BUDGET

Other Income 

City of Rockaway Beach Small Community Grant                                                            $                                                

 Matching amounts are NOT required, but if your project exceeds the grant fund limit, use this section to add additional
funding resources                                                                                                    

                                                                                                                                                        $                                               
                                                                                                                                                        $                                               
                                                                                                                                                        $                                               

TOTAL INCOME

                                                                                                                                                        $                                               

Expenses                                                                                                                                          

If estimates from tentative vendors have been obtained, please attach those to the application.

                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              

                                                                                                                                                        $                                              

Description                                                                             Estimate Obtained (Y/N)         Budget

                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              
                                                                                                                                                        $                                              

TOTAL BUDGET

Total income should equal total expenses



AUTHORIZATIONS AND CERTIFICATIONS
Initial the following authorizations and certifications

Signature

Printed Name

Date

Title

  

  

  

  

 

I am an eligible Applicant and submitted an eligible project.  Refer to above grant 
information for details.

I agree to comply with federal, state, and local rules and regulations, where 
applicable.

Legal title affirmation.  I understand that legal title to the completed project must be 
held for at least 3 years following the project completion or that some other  
arrangement, satisfactory to the City of Rockaway Beach, will be put in place to protect
the investment of public funds in this project for a 3-year period.
Required for facility improvement projects only.

I agree to provide a W9-Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and  
Certification.  I certify that the Federal Employer Identification Number and business 
type provided in the above application is accurate and the organization is not subject  
to back-up withholding.

I agree to provide current, executed Articles of Incorporation  or Organization for 
the non-profit or not for profit organization.
Not applicable to other community entities.

I give permission to the City of Rockaway Beach to use my project for public 
information, promotional, and educational purposes.

Hold harmless and Indemnification.  I agree to hold the City of Rockaway Beach  
harmless for any liens, claims, damages, or other liabilities related to the project, and to
indemnify and defend the City of Rockaway Beach from any claims, costs, damages, or 
expenses of any kind, including attorney’s fees and other costs  and expenses of  
litigation, arising out of the project.

Authorization.  I certify to the best of my knowledge that all information contained in  
this application, including all attachments, certifications, is  valid and accurate.  I further 
certify that the application has been reviewed and approved by  the authorized
owner(s), manager(s) with appropriately delegated authority and/or in accordance with
the organization’s Articles of Incorporation or Organization.

March 4, 2025

Cosmo Jones Treasurer/Board Member

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ

Kristin Koptiuch
CJ



  Rockaway Beach Small Community Grant 2025 
 Neah-Kah-Nie Coast Art Music & Cultural Foundation 
 

  8 

 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Other Supporting Materials  
 
WEBSITES 

• Rockaway Writers Rendezvous, https://www.rbwriters.com/  
• Neah-Kah-Nie Coast Art & Music Cultural Foundation, https://www.ncamfoundation.org/  

 
SOCIAL MEDIA:  

• RWR, https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=61556117139270 
• NCAM Foundation, https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=61562631316851 
• @rbwriters  Instagram 
• @ncamfoundation Instagram 

 
SUPPORTING LINKS 

• RWR Anthology 2024 link for sale in Amazon ($20), 
https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B0D2VD4PJQ?ref_=dbs_m_mng_rwt_calw_tpbk_
0&storeType=ebooks&qid=1739838131&sr=8-1  

• RWR Program from 2024, https://www.rbwriters.com/2024-program  
• RWR Program thus far for 2025 (coming soon), https://www.rbwriters.com/2025-program 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

• This coversheet 
• Letter of Support from Rockaway Beach Business Association 
• Flyer for Rockaway Writers Rendezvous writing contests 2025 
• Photo of the two students who won RWR arts scholarships in 2023 

 





BENEFITTING THE NEAH-KAH-NIE HIGH SCHOOL SCHOLARSHIP FUND
www.rbwriters.com

* WORKSHOPS 
* SPEAKERS 
* READINGS 
* OPEN MIC 
* BOOKS 
* PRIZES 
* RAFFLES
* ANTHOLOGY

THIRD ANNUAL

Student & ADULT contests
call for entries starts now!

WRITING COMPETITIONS
Categories: Poetry, Fiction, Non-Fiction, 
Journalism, Music Lyrics
All winning writing entries are 
published in our 2025 Anthology!

Students: Open to grades 7-12 residing 
on the coast of Oregon. Cash Priizes!

Adults: Open to all adults 18 & older. No 
cash prizes.
 

ART COMPETITIONS
Open to ALL students K-12 & all adults 
18+. All winning art entries are 
published in our 2025 Anthology!

Your paintings, drawings, illustrations, 
photography, sculpture, music, video, 
installation art, furniture design, interior 
design, food or beverage creation.

... OR ANYTHING ELSE YOU CONSIDER ART!

Visit our website to learn more & enter the contest!

submission deadline MARCH 1, 2025



ROCKAWAY WRITERS RENDEZVOUS 

STUDENT SCHOLARSHIP WINNERS 2023 

 

 





























 

TO: Rockaway Beach City Council 
FROM: Daniel Wear, Sustainable Northwest 
SUBJECT MEMO: City of Rockaway Beach – Next Steps Towards Acquisition and 
Management of Jetty Creek Watershed 
DATE: April 2, 2025 
 
Discussion / Analysis  
The City of Rockaway Beach (CORB)'s primary water supply comes from Jetty Creek, a 
stream which originates within a 1,300-acre forested watershed located 3 miles north of 
CORB. The watershed itself is owned and managed between two different timber 
companies, Nuveen Natural Capital (formerly Greenwood Resources) and Stimson 
Lumber Company. Since 2023, CORB has been actively engaged in developing 
approaches to bring the portions of the watershed into City ownership, including the 
development of a Letter of Intent (Attachment A) between CORB and Nuveen Natural 
Capital (Nuveen) identifying a target acquisition deadline of December 31, 2026. 
 
In the past year, CORB has worked directly with partners, including Sustainable Northwest 
(SNW), to secure funding and other resources to support the acquisition and management 
of an identified parcel which contains 595-acres of the 1,300-acre Jetty Creek Watershed, 
identified as the "Lower Jetty Creek Watershed".  The notable achievements include: 

1. The submission of a proposal for the Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board's 
Drinking Water Source Protection Grant Program. 

2. The submission of a funding proposal to the Federal Forest Legacy Program, via 
Oregon Department of Forestry. 

3. The contract negotiation to secure funding from the Oregon Health Authoring to 
develop a forest stewardship plan and a timber price valuation. 

4. The extension of the Memorandum of Understanding between members of the 
Jetty Creek Working Group. 

 
More details and recommended next steps on each of these projects are listed below: 
  



 

 
 
Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board (OWEB) – Drinking Water Source 
Protection Grant Program 
 
In December of 2024, CORB Staff submitted a request for funding to support the Lower 
Jetty Creek Watershed acquisition. This funding is intended to support a portion of the 
estimated acquisition cost, the costs of property appraisal, legal fees, and staff and 
contractor time, to ensure the City can effectively acquire the identified parcel.  In March 
of 2025, the OWEB review committee recommended the Lower Jetty Creek 
Watershed Acquisition proposal for full funding. When awarded, this will 
provide $1,422,700 to support the efforts identified above.  At the OWEB Board 
Meeting on April 22 and 23, 2025, the application will be officially recommended for full 
award.  Funds to support this program will become available in the Summer of 2025 and 
require full expenditure by the Fall of 2026. This aligns with the timeline that has been 
identified between CORB and Nuveen regarding property acquisition in the 2024 Letter 
of Intent. 
 
The next step to utilize this funding is to work with a property appraiser to develop a 
Yellow Book appraisal. When complete, the Appraisal will inform the upper limit of the 
property’s that can be funded through state and federal dollars. 
 
 
 
Forest Legacy Program 
 
In the Summer of 2024, CORB submitted an application to the Oregon Department of 
Forestry (ODF) to support a request for funding with the Federal Forest Legacy Program. 
This application was approved by ODF in September of 2024 and submitted for Federal 
review. Currently, this application is awaiting review by the US Forest Service. If awarded, 
the funding would be available during the 2026 Federal Fiscal Year and would support 
75% of the estimated acquisition costs. When paired with the OWEB program above, this 
funding would  
 
The review and award of this funding is contingent on available funding for the program, 
as well as CORB’s ranking among other projects. Given the uncertainty around new funds 
being awarded at the federal level, CORB should not rely on this source of funding 
to be awarded and available prior to the 2026 deadline identified in the Letter 
of Intent. 
 
  



 

Drinking Water Source Protection (DWSP) Grant – Oregon Health Authority 
 
In 2024, CORB was awarded funding to support the development of a forest stewardship 
plan and initial timber valuation. This funding totaled $70,000, split between these two 
efforts. 
 
The development of a forest stewardship plan is highly important for CORB. This plan will 
identify how forestlands should be managed in line with CORB's identified goal of water 
quantity and quality protection. The project included additional funding to support 
community engagement efforts. These efforts will allow selected community members to 
participate in the development of a forest management plan to ensure that any developed 
plan will align with the goals of the city. The intention is to develop a forest stewardship 
plan during 2025 and submit it for approval with CORB City Council in early 2026.  
 
The second aspect of this application is timber valuation. This proposal supported the 
preliminary valuation of the property and available timber. When completed, the City will 
begin effectively negotiating a land acquisition price with the landowner. 
 
Updated Memorandum of Understanding – Jetty Creek Working Group 
 
In December of 2024, the Jetty Creek Working Group was able to update the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), which committed the members of CORB, North 
Coast Land Conservancy, Nuveen, and SNW to continue developing collaborative 
management solutions within the Jetty Creek Watershed. This updated MOU reaffirmed 
the current landowner, Nuveen Natural Capital’s commitment to eliminating herbicide and 
pesticide use within the watershed through 2026, remaining in line with the Letter of 
Intent between CORB and Nuveen, signed in 2024. 
 
Additionally, this MOU identified the continued commitment of conservation partners, 
North Coast Land Conservancy and SNW. Both organizations will continue to commit time 
and resources as needed to ensure the Jetty Creek Watershed management effort 
remains effectively supported.  



 

Recommended Next Steps: 
 
Following the award of OWEB Drinking Water Source Protection Funding, CORB is on an 
18-month timeline to acquire the Lower Jetty Creek Watershed. While additional funding 
from federal sources, such as the Forest Legacy Program, remains under review, CORB 
should pursue other avenues for funding. This will ensure CORB will satisfy the OWEB 
requirements and goals in the Letter of Intent (LOI). 
 
SNW recommends pursuing a loan from the Clean Water State Revolving Loan Program 
(CWSRF) as described in Attachment B, administered by Oregon’s Department of 
Environmental Quality, for $5 million in funding. This loan will support the acquisition 
of the Lower Jetty Creek Watershed. This program will act as a complement to the OWEB 
funding that has been recommended for funding in the following ways: 
 

1. This is a low-interest loan program with terms up to 30 years.  
2. Final loan request can be reduced prior to contracting. 
3. This program provides partial loan forgiveness of 50% of project costs up to $2 

million to qualifying communities.1 
4. This program prioritizes projects that support clean water infrastructure and 

provide long-term water quality and clean water benefits.  
5. This program has funded watershed acquisition projects in prior years. 
6. Applicants can withdraw their application at any point during the process. 
7. The program accepts applications in April, August, and December and awards 

funding on a 12-to-18-month timeline. 
 
The recommendation for a $5 million application is to ensure the availability of 
sufficient funding. By securing $5 million from the CWSRF program, CORB will ensure 
access to the liquid assets needed acquire the property in full in line with the LOI. This 
will eliminate the risk of funding gaps due to timing and process requirements of the 
OWEB Drinking Water Source Protection Funding, if any arise. If the loan is awarded, 
CORB will be able to take on a CWSRF loan of up to $5 million.2 

 
If pursued, CORB should submit an application at the April 11 deadline, an effort that 
SNW can support. 

 
1 Loan forgiveness confirmed upon the final contracting between the CWSRF program and CORB, based on 
available funds held with the State. 
2 If paired with the awarded OWEB Funding, CORB could take out a loan of between $3 and 4 million. 



________________________________ 

Daniel Wear, Senior Forest Program Manager, Sustainable Northwest. 

CC: Luke Shepard, City Manager 
Charles McNeilly, Mayor 

Attachment A: Letter of Intent, CORB & Nuveen 
Attachment B: Clean Water State Revolving Loan Program Overview 



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



SNW Memo -  Attachment A



Point Source
• Any single identifiable 

source of pollution 
discharge

• Common types are 
factories, sewage 
treatment plants and 
paper mills, among others 

Nonpoint Source
Pollution carried by rain, 
snowmelt, seepage or 
drainage, including:

• Oil
• Animal waste
• Bacteria
• Agricultural chemicals  

Planning
• Data collection and 

measurement 
• Evaluation, analysis  

and security 
• Report preparation
• Environmental review and 

any other activity leading 
to a written document

Local Community
• Enables communities to 

develop their own water 
quality loan program

• Projects may include 
septic work, estuary 
management and irrigation 
projects

Below-market rate loans for planning, design and construction
The Oregon Clean Water State Revolving Fund helps protect public health, restore natural areas and 
promotes economic development. We can help you decide which treatment approach and loan type 
will meet your water quality needs.

SNW Memo - Attachment B



Accessibility
Documents can be provided upon 
request in an alternate format for 
individuals with disabilities or in 
a language other than English for 
people with limited English skills. 
To request a document in another 
format or language, call DEQ in 
Portland at 503-229-5696, or toll-
free in Oregon at 1-800-452-4011, 
ext. 5696; or email deqinfo@deq.
state.or.us.

The Clean Water State Revolving Fund is affordable and flexible

Call 503-229-LOAN or visit us online 
oregon.gov/deq/wq/cwsrf

Millions 
available to 
lend for big or 
small projects!

Eligible projects
• Planning and design
• Wastewater treatment facilities
• Recycled water distribution 
• Interceptors, force mains and 

pumping stations
• Infiltration and inflow correction
• Overflow correction and collector 

sewers
• Sewer replacement/rehabilitation
• Stormwater management

• Estuary restoration and protection
• Nonpoint source control activities
• Land purchase
• Agricultural conservation 
• Protection or restoration of 

riparian habitat
• Green infrastructure
• And more! Call 503-229-LOAN  

to discuss your needs

05-18

• All public agencies and  
tribes are eligible

• Below-market rate financing
• Terms of up to 30 years
• FREE project and application 

assistance
• Repayment generally begins six 

months after project completion

• Some projects may qualify for 
limited principal forgiveness

• Applications reviewed three  
times a year

• Affordable loans keep user  
rates low

• No interest charged on  
unused loan dollars

$$

SNW Memo - Attachment B



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 1 of 17 

POLICY NUMBER:  100.1 
EFFECTIVE DATE:  August 11, 2023 
REVIEWED: 
REVISED: 

CATEGORY: Administration 

RELATED DOCUMENTS: 
City Charter 
Code Chapter 33: City Council 
Ordinance 23-444 – amending Code Ch. 33 
Resolution 23-995 – adopting this policy 

Section 1. AUTHORITY. 

1.1 The authority for adopting this policy is Chapter III, Section 9, Charter of the City of 

Rockaway Beach which states, "The Council must by resolution adopt rules to govern its 

meetings." 

1.2 These Council rules are to be supplementary and subordinate to the City Charter, the 

laws of the State of Oregon and the United States of America. 

1.3 The Council shall review these rules at least once every two years. Amendments shall be 

adopted by a majority vote of the full Council excluding the Mayor. 

Section 2. MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS. 

2.1 Definition. ORS 192.610 (5) states that a meeting means the convening of the governing 

body of a public body for which a quorum is required in order to make a decision or to 

deliberate toward a decision on any matter. Council meetings and workshops are 

subject to Oregon Public Meetings Law (ORS 192.610-192.690). 

2.2 Regular Meetings. The Council shall meet regularly, at least once each month, on the 

second Wednesday at 6:00 p.m. within the City of Rockaway Beach. The meeting 

calendar shall be set by the Council each December for the following year. 

2.2.A. Mayor's Vote. The Mayor has no vote unless the voting members of the Council 

are split evenly, or as otherwise provided in the City Charter. 

2.2.B. Mayor's Functions: 

1.  Act as Chairperson of Council meetings and preside over deliberations of 
the Council. 

2. Preserve order. 

3 Enforce Council rules. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 2 of 17 

4. Determine the order of business before the Council. 

2.2.C. Council President. Except in voting on questions before the Council, the 
President shall function as Mayor when the Mayor is: 

 
1. Absent from a Council meeting. 

2. Unable to function as Mayor. 

 
2.3 Special Meetings. The Mayor, or in the Mayor's absence the president of the Council, or 

the City Manager may call a meeting at any time, or shall on written petition of three 

Councilors, call a meeting at any time for the transaction of the business mentioned in 

the petition.  

2.3.A.  Special meetings shall be noticed in accordance with Oregon public meetings 

law, and, at a minimum, shall be noticed at least 24 hours prior to the meeting 

taking place. 

2.3.B. Written notice of a special meeting shall be given each member of the Council.  

2.3.C. Written notice shall be posted at City Hall and theHall, the Post Office, the City’s 

website, City’s Facebook page, and sent out through the City’s email listserv. 

Members of the media who have asked to be notified of meetings shall be 

notified in the usual manner. 

2.3.D. The Council President shall attempt to contact the Mayor, by the most 

expeditious means possible, if the President schedules a special meeting or 

executive session of the Council in the Mayor's absence. The intent would be to 

provide the Mayor with the opportunity to attend the meeting, if possible. 

2.4  Emergency Meetings. In the case of an actual emergency, the Mayor, or in the Mayor's 

absence, the President of the Council, or in the Mayor’s and President’s absence, a 

quorum of the City Council, or the City Manager may call an emergency meeting on less 

than 24 hours’ notice. The minutes of the meeting shall describe the emergency 

justifying less than 24 hours’ notice [ORS 192.640(3)]. An attempt must be made to 

contact the media and other interested parties to inform them of the meeting. Such 

contacts may be by telephone, email, facsimile, or other electronic means. 

2.5 Public Hearings Generally. 

2.5.A.  A public hearing may be held on any matter upon majority vote of the council. 

Public hearings may be held to consider legislative, quasi-judicial or 

administrative matters. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 3 of 17 

2.5.B.  Persons wishing to speak shall sign the “public comment sign-up sheet” with the 

person’s name and address prior to the commencement of the public hearing at 

which the person wishes to speak. 

2.5.C.  The presiding officer shall announce at the commencement of any public 

hearing the subject of the hearing as it is set forth on the agenda. The presiding 

officer shall then declare the hearing open. 

2.5.D.  Each person shall, prior to giving testimony, state their name and shall indicate 

whether they are a resident of the city in which city is their principal residence. 

Speakers may indicate if they own property or a business within the city. All 

remarks shall be addressed to the council as a body and not to any member 

thereof. 

2.5.E.    Speakers at hearings on legislative or administrative matters, other than 

legislative land use matters, will be limited to four three minutes.  

 2.6 General Conduct of Hearings.  

2.6.A. Any party may speak in person, through an attorney, or elect to have a 

representative from an officially recognized neighborhood association present 

the party’s case. 

2.6.B.  A copy of any written testimony or physical evidence which a party desires to 

have introduced into the record at the time of hearing shall be submitted to the 

City Recorder at the time the party makes his or her presentation. If the 

testimony or evidence is not submitted to the City Recorder, it shall not be 

included in the record for the proceeding. 

2.6.C.  No person may speak more than once without obtaining permission from the 

Presiding Officer. 

2.6.D.  Upon being recognized by the Presiding Officer, any member of the Council, the 

City Manager, City Planner or the City Attorney may question any person who 

testifies. 

2.6.E.  Testimony shall be directed towards the applicable standards and criteria which 

apply to the proposal before the council. 

2.6.F.  The Presiding Officer may exclude or limit cumulative, repetitious, or immaterial 

testimony. To expedite hearings, the presiding officer may call for those in favor 

and those in opposition to rise, and the Ccity Rrecorder shall note the numbers 

of such persons for the record in the minutes. 

2.7 Quasi-Judicial Land Use Matters. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 4 of 17 

2.7.A. Scope of Review. All appeals and council-initiated review in quasi-judicial land 

use proceedings shall be new (de novo) or shall be held on the record. 

2.7.B.  Conflicts of Interest and Ex-Parte Contacts. 

1. A member of the council shall not participate in a discussion or vote in a 

quasi-judicial land use proceeding if: 

a. The member has an actual conflict of interest as defined by the 

Oregon Revised Statutes or the City Charter. 

b. The member was not present during the public hearing; provided, 

however, the member may participate if they have reviewed the 

evidence, including recordings of the hearing, and declared such fact for 

the record. 

2. Members of the Council shall reveal any ex parte contacts with regard to the 

proceeding at the commencement of any quasi-judicial land use proceeding. 

2.7.C.  Burden of Proof. The proponent has the burden of proof on all elements of the 

proposal, and the proposal must be supported by proof that it conforms to all 

applicable standards and criteria. 

a. The decision of the Council shall be based on the applicable standards 

and criteria as set forth in the City’s municipal code, the City’s 

comprehensive plan, and, if applicable, any other land use standards 

imposed by state law or administrative rule 

b. The proponent, any opponents, and/or city staff may submit to the 

council a set of written findings or statements of factual information 

which are intended to demonstrate the proposal complies or fails to 

comply with any or all applicable standards and criteria. 

2.7.D3. Hearing Procedures. Quasi-judicial land use hearings procedures shall be 

conducted in accordance with ORS 197.797 unless otherwise provided in the 

land use ordinances. The order of hearings in quasi-judicial land use matters 

shall include: 

a. Land Use Hearing Disclosure Statement. The presiding officer shall 

read the land use hearing disclose statement, which shall include:  

1) A list of the applicable criteria; 

2) A statement that testimony, arguments and evidence must 

be directed toward the applicable criteria or other criteria in the 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 5 of 17 

plan or land use regulation which the person believes to apply 

to the decision; 

3) A statement that failure to raise an issue accompanied by 

statements or evidence sufficient to afford the council and the 

parties an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal 

to the Land Use Board of Appeals based on that issue; and  

4) If applicable, a statement that a failure to raise constitutional 

issues relating to proposed conditions of approval precludes an 

action for damages in circuit court. 

b. Call for ex parte contacts. The presiding officer shall inquire whether 

any member of the council has had ex parte contacts. Any member of 

the Ccouncil announcing an ex parte contact shall state for the record 

the nature and content of the contact. 

c. Call for abstentions. The presiding officer shall inquire whether any 

member of the Council must abstain from participating in the hearing 

due to a conflict of interest. Any member of the Council announcing a 

conflict of interest shall state the nature of the conflict, and shall not 

participate in the proceeding, unless the person’s vote is necessary to 

meet a requirement of a minimum number of votes necessary to take 

official action; provided, however, that the member shall not participate 

in any discussion or debate on the issue of which the conflict arises. 

d. Staff summary. Planning staff shall present a summary and 

recommendation concerning the proposal. 

e. Presentation of the Case  

1) Applicant/Proponent’s case. (Encouraged to limit to twenty 

minutes total.) 

2) Appellant, if other than applicant. (Encouraged to limit to 

twenty minutes total.) 

2) Persons in favor. Four Three minutes per person. 

3) Persons opposed. Four Three minutes per person. 

4) Other interested persons. Four Three minutes per person. 

5) Staff response/clarification.  

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 6 of 17 

5) Rebuttal. Ten minutes total. Rebuttal may be presented by 

the applicant/proponent. The scope of rebuttal is limited to 

matters which were introduced during the hearing. 

f. Close of hearing. No further information shall be received after the 

close of the hearing, except for specific questions directed to staff. If the 

response to any such questions requires the introduction of additional 

factual evidence, all parties shall be afforded an opportunity for 

simultaneous written rebuttal. 

g. Deliberations. Deliberations shall immediately follow the hearing. The 

Council may delay deliberations to a subsequent date and time certain. 

h. Findings and Order. The Council may approve or reject the proposal. 

1) The Council may direct staff to prepare findings to support its 

decision. 

2) The Council may incorporate findings proposed by the 

proponent, the opponent, or staff in its decision. 

i. Continuances. A party can obtain either a continuance or an open 

record period. However, nothing in this section shall restrict the Council, 

in its discretion, from granting additional continuances.  There is a 120-

day time limitation, imposed by the Oregon Revised Statutes, and this 

120-day period is not extended unless the applicant requested the 

continuance or if the applicant otherwise agrees to the extension of the 

time limitation. 

 2.8  Legislative Land Use Matters. 

2.8.A Hearings Procedures. The order of procedures for hearings on legislative land 

use matters shall be: 

1. Call for abstentions. Inquire whether any member of the Council wishes to 

abstain from participation in the hearing. Any member announcing an 

abstention shall identify the reason therefore and shall not participate in the 

proceedings. 

2. Staff summary. Staff shall present a statement of the applicable criteria, and a 

summary and recommendation concerning the proposal. 

3. Presentation of the Case. 

 a. Proponent’s case. Twenty minutes total. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 7 of 17 

 b. Persons in favor. Three Four minutes per person. 

 c. Persons opposed. Three Four minutes per person. 

 d. Other interested persons. Three Four minutes per person. 

4. Close of hearing. No further information shall be received after the close of 

the hearing, except for responses to specific questions directed to staff. 

5. Deliberations. Deliberations shall immediately follow the hearing. The Council 

may delay deliberations to a subsequent time certain.  

6. Reopening hearing. Prior to second reading of an ordinance relating to a 

legislative land use matter, and upon majority vote of the Council, a hearing 

may be reopened to receive additional testimony, evidence or argument. The 

same notice requirements shall be met for the reopened hearing as were 

required for the original hearing. 

 

2.9 Executive Sessions. Executive sessions may be held during regular or special meetings, 

or as stand alone meetings, so long as appropriate statutory limitations are met. Written 

notice shall be posted at City Hall, the Post Office, the City’s website, City’s Facebook 

page,  and sent out through the city’s City’s email listserv email listing. Members of the 

media who have asked to be notified of meetings shall be notified in the usual manner. 

2.9.A. Only members of the Council, the City Manager and persons specifically invited 

by the City Manager or the Council shall be allowed to attend executive 

sessions. 

2.9.B. Representatives of recognized news media may attend executive sessions, other 

than those sessions during which the Council conducts deliberations with 

persons designated to carry on labor negotiations, or where the matter involves 

litigation and the news media is a party to the litigation. 

2.10 Continuation of a Meeting. Upon majority vote of the Council any meeting may be 

continued to a later date or time, provided that no continuation or adjournment shall be 

for a period longer than the next regular scheduled meeting. 

2.11 Workshops. Workshops are permitted to present information to the Council so that the 

Council is prepared for regular or special meetings. Workshops shall be held at least 

once a month, on the second Wednesday at 4:30 p.m., within the City of Rockaway 

Beach. Additional Special Workshops may be scheduled by the City Manager. 

Workshops allow the Council as needed to gather information and informally discuss 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 8 of 17 

specific issues or questions. The public may attend workshops,. but may not participate 

unless expressly asked. 

2.11.A All workshops are subject to Oregon’s public meetings law and must be noticed 

accordingly. 

2.11.B. Workshops are intended to allow for preliminary discussions, and the Council is 

not permitted to take formal or final action on any matter at a workshop. 

2.11.C. Workshops are to be scheduled by the City Manager. Workshops are typically 

held at least once a month, on the second Wednesday at 4:30 p.m.  

2.11.DC.  The City Manager is to invite any relevant staff to workshops so that 

the sessions are as productive as possible. 

2.12 Attendance by City Manager. The City Manager shall attend all Council meetings unless 

excused by the Council or the Mayor. Staff shall attend when requested by the City 

Manager. 

 

Section 3. MECHANICS OF MEETINGS. 

3.1 Quorum. Pursuant to the City Charter, Section 11, three of the five voting council 

members shall constitute a quorum to conduct business. The Mayor, or in his/her 

absence the president of the Council, shall call the meeting to order at the hour 

designated for the meeting. If a quorum is not present, the City Manager shall 

immediately inform the absent members, except those known to be unavoidably 

detained, that their presence is required. If the absent member or members do not 

appear after the notice, the members present shall adjourn until a specific time or until 

the next regular meeting. 

3.2 Rules of Order. Unless otherwise provided by law or by these rules, the procedure for 

Council meetings shall be governed by Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised. The 

Council has an obligation to the citizens to be clear and simple in its procedures and in 

the consideration of questions coming before it. Therefore, the rules of procedure 

should be liberally construed to that purpose. Councilors should avoid invoking the finer 

points of parliamentary rules that serve only to obscure the issues and arouse the 

suspicion of the audience at public meetings and the citizens in general. The Presiding 

Officer shall determine all points of order, subject to the right of any member to appeal 

to the Council. 

3.3 Agenda. An agenda for each regular Council meeting shall be prepared by the City 

Manager. Council members may request that specific items be included on the agenda. 

The City Manager should be given enough time to do necessary research or prepare 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 9 of 17 

necessary reports to address the agenda items. Agendas for regular Council meetings 

shall be posted at City Hall, and the Post Office, and the City website at least 5 days prior 

to the meeting time. The Council shall consider at the meeting only matters that appear 

on the agenda for that meeting, except in the case of an emergency. The Council may 

discuss items added by a Council member at the meeting.  The City Manager may 

remove any items on the consent agenda, any item of old business, any resolution, or 

any ordinance placed for first reading from the agenda at any time prior to the time the 

meeting is convened. The presiding officer shall announce such removal under 

announcements. 

 

3.4 Consent Agenda. In order to make more efficient use of meeting time, the City Manager 

shall place minor administrative items, such as the approval of the order of business on 

the agenda, meeting minutes and financial reports, that are routine in nature and 

concerning which no debate is expected on a "consent agenda." Any item placed on the 

consent agenda shall be removed at the request of a Councilor prior to the time a vote 

is taken on the consent agenda. All remaining items on the consent agenda shall be 

disposed of by a single motion ''to adopt the consent agenda," which shall not be 

debatable. Adoption of the consent agenda shall be by the affirmative vote of all 

Councilors present at the time the vote is taken and shall have the same effect as a 

separate vote for each item. If there are dissenting votes, each item on the consent 

agenda shall be voted upon separately in the usual manner. 

3.5 Order of Business. The order of business at regular Council meetings shall be as follows 

unless amended by the Council when adopting the consent calendar: 

THE FOLLOWING SHOULD BE ALTERED AS NEEDED OR DESIRED 

1) Call to Order 
 

2) Pledge of Allegiance  

3) Roll Call 

4) Oaths of Office 

5) Consent Agenda  

6) Presentations, guests, and announcements 

7)  Staff Reports 

8) Public Hearings 

9) Public comment on non-agenda items 

10) Old Business (includes opportunity for public comment) 

11) New Business (includes opportunity for public comment) 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 10 of 17 

12) Items Removed From Consent Agenda 

13) Committee reports 

14) Council Comments 

15)  Mayor’s Report 

16) Adjournment 

 
3.6 Record of Proceedings.  

3.6.A  A written record, commonly called minutes, shall be kept of all meetings except 

Executive Sessions and maintained by the city in accordance with the appropriate record 

retention schedule. Executive Sessions shall be recorded by audio only, except as 

required by law. The minutes shall contain the following information: 

1) The date, time and place of the meeting; 

2) The members present; 

3) The motions, proposals, resolutions, orders, ordinances, and measures 
proposed and their disposition; 

4) The results of all votes and the vote of each member by name; 

5) The substance of any discussion on any matter; and 

6) A reference to any document discussed at the meeting.  

Minutes shall record the substance of the meeting and be concise. Verbatim minutes 

are not required. 

3.6.B  The Council shall approve all minutes of any City Council meeting. All minutes 
shall be approved within ninety days of the meeting having occurred. The draft minutes 
shall be submitted to the Council as part of the Council’s packet prior to the meeting 
where they will be discussed. Upon receipt of the minutes in the Council agenda packet, 
the Council Members should review them and if possible, submit any corrections to the 
City Recorder in order that a corrected copy can be prepared prior to the meeting for 
approval. Generally, minutes appear under the Consent Agenda. If minor amendments 
are made to the minutes, a Councilor may offer such amendment prior to the Consent 
Agenda being adopted. For an extensive amendment, the Council shall remove the 
minutes from the Consent Agenda for separate consideration. Upon an affirmative vote 
of the majority of the Councilors present, the Council may postpone approval of the 
minutes until the City Recorder has reviewed the recording of the portion of the 
meeting in question. The Council is final authority as to the amendment to the minutes 
upon an affirmative vote of the majority of the Councilors present. 
 
 
3.6.C. A video or audio recording of meetings shall be posted online.  Recordings will 

be posted online within 5 business days after the meeting, whenever feasible. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 11 of 17 

3.7 Written Communications to the Council. 

3.7.A.  Written comments concerning matters on the agenda received no later than 

48 hours prior to the Council meeting will be distributed to the Council and 

posted online as Public Comment. Comments shall not be individually itemized 

on the agenda. All written comments submitted at a meeting become part of 

the permanent public meeting record. 

3.7.B.  Unsolicited communications to the Mayor and/or Council concerning matters 

that are not on an agenda and are not submitted as testimony for a meeting 

shall be distributed to the Mmayor and/or Council but shall not be included in 

the agenda packet or online materials.  

3.7.C. The City Manager may, in his or her discretion, bring any matter raised by an 

unsolicited communication to the attention of the Council as an agenda item, 

provided that such communication is accompanied by a staff report setting 

forth the reason the matter should be considered by the Council, and making a 

recommendation for Council action. 

3.8 Decorum.  

3.8.A. The Presiding Officer shall preserve decorum during meetings and shall decide 

all points of order, subject to appeal of the Council.  

3.8.B.  Members of the Council shall preserve decorum during meetings, and shall not, 

by conversation or action, delay or interrupt the proceedings or refuse to obey 

the orders of the Presiding Officer or these rules. . Council members shall at all 

times conduct themselves in a manner appropriate to the dignity of their office. 

3.8.C. Members of the city staff and all other persons attending meetings shall 

observe the Council’s rules of proceedings and adhere to the same standards of 

decorum as members of Council. 

3.8.D.  Audience members who are causing an actual disruption can be removed from 

the public meeting. Persons who interrupt a meeting’s proceeding by 

repeatedly shouting out and yelling, including individuals located in a different 

room than an actual public meeting who are protesting so loudly that it 

interferes with the meeting, may be removed from the area, after fair warning, 

if the Presiding Officer so directs. In case the Presiding Officer should fail to act, 

any Councilor may obtain the floor and move to require enforcement of this 

rule. Upon affirmative vote of the majority of the Council present, the person or 

persons shall be removed as if the Presiding Officer so directed. If a person’s 

disruption of a meeting is such that it threatens the safety and security of the 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 12 of 17 

public, the Council can request that the person in question be arrested for 

disorderly conduct 

3.9 Speaking by Council Members and City Manager. 

3.9.A. Councilors, the City Manager and staff shall be recognized by the Presiding 

Officer before speaking, unless bringing up a point of order. Upon recognition 

by the Presiding Officer, the Council member or City Manager shall speak and 

confine his or her remarks to the matter at hand. 

3.9.B. A Council member desiring to question a city employee shall address the 

questions to the City Manager who shall be entitled to either answer the inquiry 

or designate a staff member to do so. Council members may direct questions to 

employees as follow-up to their staff reports or Council meeting presentations.  

3.10 Public Comment by Members of the Audience. 

3.10.A. Two periods for public comment will be reserved for every regular meeting of 

the Council. Each period shall not exceed a maximum of 40 minutes, unless a 

majority of Councilors present vote to extend the time. The first period for 

public comment shall be used to comment on any issue of city business, other 

than agenda items or public hearingsshall be allowed during scheduled business 

items placed on the agenda (other than public hearings), and the second period 

of public comment shall be used to comment on any issue of city business, other 

than agenda items shall be allowed during scheduled business items placed on 

the agenda (other than public hearings). The Presiding Officer may, unless a 

member of Council objects, allow a person who desires to comment on an item 

not on the agenda to speak during the first second comment period.  

3.10.B. Audience members shall be recognized by the Presiding Officer before speaking. 

Persons wishing to speak in person during public comment must sign the “public 

comment sign-up sheet” with the person’s name, their city of principal 

residence, and address and the topic upon which the person wishes to speak, 

not later than the call to order.  This information shall be used to ensure the 

minutes of the meeting properly reflect those persons who provided public 

comment. Persons wishing to speak remotely during public comment will be 

requested to use the “raise hand” feature. 

3.10.C.  Members of the public may speak about any topic during the last first period for 

public comment, except as provided in 3.10.E of this rule. 

3.10.D. Public comment is a time for comment, it is not a time for debate, nor is it a 

time for members of the public to ask questions of and receive answers from 

the Council or city staff. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 13 of 17 

3.10.E. If a member of the public wishes to speak on an item that is scheduled for a 

public hearing at that same meeting, the speaker shall wait until that public 

hearing. Public comment shall not be used to testify about a quasi-judicial land 

use matter, to testify on an item that is not a public matter, to testify on a 

matter which has been or is scheduled to be heard by a hearings official, or to 

provide or gather additional testimony or information on any matter after the 

official record has been closed on any matter which has been the subject of a 

public hearing. 

3.10.F. Speakers are limited to four minutes. Generally, the speakers will be called upon 

in the order in which they have signed in on the sign-up sheet. The Mayor or 

Presiding Officer may change the order of speakers at their discretion.  Speakers 

shall identify themselves by their names and in which city is their principal 

residence. by their place of residence. Speakers may indicate if they own 

property or a business within the city.. The Presiding Officer may allow 

additional persons to speak if they have not signed the speaker’s roster and 

sufficient time is left in the 40-minute period. 

3.10.G. Should there be more speakers than can be heard for four minutes each during 

either of the 40-minute periods provided for public comment, the Presiding 

Officer may sort the requests to speak in order to afford the greatest 

opportunity for each topic to be heard. 

 

3.11 Decisions. The Council shall not make a decision on any item that affects the public, or any 

individual member of the public, unless the item is on the posted agenda, except in the case 

where an emergency is declared. 

 

3.12 Voting Generally. 

3.12.A. The vote on every motion shall be taken by roll call. Members shall not explain 

their votes during roll call. Names of voters in favor and against shall be entered 

in full upon the record. Any member of the Council may change his or her vote 

prior to the next order of business. 

3.12.B. Vote Required. The express approval of a majority of a quorum of the Council is 

necessary for any Council decision, except when the City Charter requires 

otherwise. The City Charter provides that at least three affirmative votes are 

necessary to pass an ordinance. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 14 of 17 

3.13 Duty to Vote. When a question is taken, every member of the Council eligible to vote 

shall vote unless a Councilor states a valid reason to abstain or has a direct conflict of 

interest. 

3.14 Reconsideration of Actions Taken. A Councilor who voted with the majority may move 

for a reconsideration of an action at the same or the next following regular meeting. 

Once a matter has been reconsidered, no motion for further reconsideration shall be 

made without unanimous consent of the Council eligible to vote. 

3.15 News Media. The provisions of this policy shall not be construed to prevent news media 

representatives from performing their duties so long as the manner of performance is 

not unreasonably disruptive of the meeting. Any member of the news media which 

would like to receive copies of agendas or minutes of Council meetings shall request 

such copies in writing. There may be a charge for such copies. 

3.16 Standing Committees/Commissions/Boards. 

3.16.A. For purposes of approving a budget, state law requires that the governing body 

of each city establish a budget committee. The Budget Committee, as required 

by state law, shall be a standing committee. It shall be subject to Local Budget 

Law, ORS 294.311-294.565. 

3.16.B. Planning commissions are authorized by state statute. The Planning 

Commission, required by state lawas established by the City Code,, shall be a 

standing commission. It is subject to state law, Code Section 31.01 and any 

other ordinances and resolutions which may amend it. 

3.16.C. There are no standing boards. 

3.17 Ad Hoc and Advisory Committees. 

3.17.A. The Council may establish ad hoc and/or advisory committees as needed. Each 

such committee shall be established by ordinance or resolution for a specific 

purpose. It shall have a deadline to accomplish its purpose and shall be 

considered dissolved when its purpose is accomplished. If such a committee 

needs additional time to complete its purpose it shall request additional time 

from the Council. A Councilor may serve as liaison to a committee, but may not 

chair or vote. 

3.17.B.  Unless otherwise required by resolution of the City Council, at the first meeting 

of such a committee the members shall select a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, 

and set a meeting schedule.  Minutes shall be kept of all committee meetings in 

accordance with applicable law. The committee may select a Secretary to 

prepare minutes, unless a staff member has been designated to do so by the 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 15 of 17 

City Manager. The City Recorder or designee shall post meeting notices in 

accordance with Public Meetings Law. 

3.17.C.  All meetings held by such committees are subject to the Oregon Public Meetings 

Law ORS 192.610-192.690. 

3.18 Appointing and Dissolving Committees, Commissions or Boards. The Council may 

appoint and dissolve committees, commissions or boards as needed at their discretion. 

 

Section 4. FILLING CITY COUNCIL VACANCY. A vacancy in the Council shall be filled by 

appointment by a majority of the Council. In this matter the Mayor is considered to have a vote (City 

Charter, Chapter VII, Section 31).  In the event of a Council member vacancy, the Council will follow the 

recruitment and appointment process and vacancy procedure below:   

4.1 Recruitment Process. Notice of the recruitment will be advertised through the use of a 

news release, the City website, City social media channels, and any other outreach the 

City deems helpful to reach a broad and diverse spectrum of community members who 

might be interested in applying. 

4.2 Application Process. Candidates will be invited to complete a standard application with 

at least two additional questions to be answered in a cover letter: 1) Why are you 

interested in applying to serve on the City Council? 2) Do you have any experience 

serving on City boards, committees or commissions? (Prior service is not a requirement 

for appointments.)  If you do, please describe the experience, and your length of service. 

Applicants will include a cover letter and resume. Application materials are considered 

public records. 

 

4.3 Screening Process.   

4.3.A. If three or less applications are received, the Council will move directly to the 

Interview Process. 

4.3.B. If there are more than three candidates, the Council will reduce the list of 

candidates to three as follows: 

• Council members shall complete a ballot ranking their top three 

candidates in order of their preference for first, second and third 

choice. Under-voting is not permitted.  First place votes will receive 3 

points; second place votes will receive 2 points, and third place votes 

will receive 1 point.   

• The City Manager or designee shall tabulate the votes. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 16 of 17 

• The top three candidates with the highest totals shall be selected for 

interviews. 

• Ballots and votes are considered public records.   

 

4.4 Interview Process. (Which may take place over multiple meetings.)  

4.4.A. Applications from those selected to interview will be published with the Council 

meeting packet for a regular or special public meeting. Candidates will be 

interviewed separately; those waiting for interviews will be asked to remain 

outside the room. All candidates will be asked the same interview questions; 

follow-up questions to clarify answers are permitted. 

4.4 Voting process. After the conclusion of interviews, and any debate and discussion, the 

Council will vote using the process outlined below (which may take place over multiple 

meetings): 

4.4.A.  Each member of Council will complete a ballot ranking the candidates in order 

of their preference for first, second, and third choice. Under-voting is not 

permitted. The ballots are tabulated. If one candidate receives a majority of first 

choice votes, that candidate shall be considered the winning candidate. At the 

conclusion of balloting, if successful, the Council will then make a motion and 

hold a roll call vote to appoint the winning candidate to the vacant position.  

4.4.B.  If no candidate receives a majority of first choice votes a second ballot will be 

held. The top two vote-getters from the previous ballot will advance to the 

second ballot. For the second ballot, each member of the Council will vote for 

their first-choice candidate. If one candidate receives a majority of first choice 

votes on the second ballot, that candidate shall be considered the winning 

candidate. 

4.4.C.  If there is a tie after two ballots, the Council can choose to complete additional 

ballots at the same meeting or at another noticed public meeting.  

4.4.D. At the conclusion of balloting and determination of a winning candidate, if 

successful, the Council will then make a motion and hold a roll call vote to 

appoint the winning candidate to the vacant position. In this matter the Mayor 

is considered to have a vote. All ballots and votes are considered public records. 

 

Section 5. FILLING BUDGET COMMITTEE AND PLANNING COMMISSION VACANCIES. 

A. In the event of a Budget Committee or Planning Commission member vacancy, the Mayor shall 

nominate members for appointment by a majority of the Council, in accordance with the City 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COUNCIL MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 
 

Policy 100.1 COUNCIL MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES Page 17 of 17 

Charter, Chapter III, Section 7.  

 

B. The Mayor may choose to follow the recruitment and application process in similar to Section 

4.1 and 4.2 of these rules. Before proceeding with recruitment, the Mayor may first consider 

reappointment of the incumbent. 

B.  

 

Section 6.  ETHICS. All members of the Council shall review and observe the requirements of state 

ethics law. In addition to complying with state ethics law, all members of the council shall refrain from: 

A. Disclosing confidential information. 

B. Taking action which benefits special interest groups or persons at the expense of the City as a 

whole. 

C. Expressing an opinion contrary to the official position of the council without so saying. 

D. Conducting themselves in a manner so as to bring discredit upon the government of the city. 

 
 

Section 7.  STATEMENTS TO THE MEDIA AND OTHER ORGANIZATIONS. 
 

A. Representing City. lf a member of the Council, to include the Mayor, appears as a 
representative of the City before another governmental agency, the media or an 
organization to give a statement on an issue, the member may only state the official 
position of the City, as approved by a majority of the Council. 
 

B. Personal Opinions. If a member of the Council, to include the Mayor, appears in their 
personal capacity before another governmental agency, the media or an organization to 
give a statement on an issue, the member must state they are expressing their own opinion 
and not that of the City before giving their statement. 
 
 

Section 8. SEVERABILITY. The invalidity of a section or subsection of this policy shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining sections or subsections. 

Proposed 2025 Amendments Draft 3


	1. City Council Workshop Agenda 2025-04-09
	3a. Staff Report - Small Comm Grant Applications
	Resolution 2025-15  Awarding Small Community Grants 2025.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-15
	APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 9th DAY OF APRIL


	3a.1. Tillamook County Developmental Disabilities Small Community Grant Application.2025
	3a.1. Tillamook County Developmental Disabilities Small Community Grant Application.2025
	3a.2. RBBA Small Community Grant Application.2025
	3a.3. Friends of the Rockaway Beach Library Small Community Grant Application.2025
	3a.4. NCCWP Small Community Grant Application.2025
	3a.5. NCAM Small Community Grant Application.2025
	Small Community Grant Application - FILLABLE.pdf
	Small Community Grant Application - P 7.pdf

	3a.6. International Police Museum Small Community Grant Application 2025_Redacted
	3b. SNW_April_Jetty_Creek_Memo_2025_wAttach
	3c. Council Meeting Rules and Procedures Policy - Proposed Amendments 2025 v3

	Text1: Neah-Kah-Nie Coast Arts Music and Cultural Foundation 
	Text2: Cosmo Jones
	Text3: Treasurer
	Text4: 313-265-5884
	Text5: cosmojones@gmail.com
	Text6: 501(c)3 nonprofit
	Text7: 130 Northwest 19th Ave, Rockaway Beach, OR 97136
	Text8: PO Box 332, Rockaway Beach, Oregon 97136
	Text9: Expanding Rockaway’s Vibrant Creative Hub: Support the 3rd Annual Rockaway Writers Rendezvous (RWR) 
	Text10: $4,999.99
	Text11:  $8,000.00+
	Text12: The Neah-Kah-Nie Coast Arts Music and Cultural Foundation (NCAM) seeks a $4,999.99 investment from the City of Rockaway Beach Small Community Grant to support the third annual Rockaway Writers Rendezvous (RWR)—a key event driving off-season economic growth and enriching the city’s cultural fabric. This annual three-day creative writing festival, held April 25-27, 2025, fosters artistic engagement, attracts visitors, and strengthens community connections.

As an all-volunteer nonprofit, NCAM is dedicated to expanding access to the arts in Rockaway Beach, bringing together youth and adults through writing, music, and visual arts. Our mission is to inspire creativity, celebrate diversity, and build community through cultural programs, while also raising funds for Tillamook County high school students pursuing the arts. NCAM is currently spearheading projects such as building a state-of-the-art recording studio for high school students, ensuring future generations have access to high-quality arts education.

RWR is a dynamic festival featuring writing workshops, open mic performances, contests, a keynote speaker, and an awards ceremony. In 2025, the event expands to include visual and material arts competitions, well-known speakers like Nicholas Kristof, Duncan Birmingham, Nik Xander Wolf, and media boosts to broaden its impact. Events are held at multiple Rockaway Beach venues, encouraging participants to explore local businesses and support the local economy. The festival culminates in the RWR Anthology, a profes-sionally published collection of standout original poetry, fiction, nonfiction, and songwriting from student and adult participants. This publication, in full color for 2025, highlights community voices and reinforces Rockaway Beach’s growing reputation as a creative hub.

The demographics served by RWR include aspiring and established writers of all ages, residents of Rockaway Beach and Tillamook County, and visitors from across Oregon and Washington. High school students pursuing arts education gain valuable opportunities to participate, while individuals who appreciate cultural events find an engaging and inspiring atmosphere.

RWR fosters a healthy, inclusive, and equitable community in Rockaway Beach by expanding access to arts and cultural opportunities that inspire creativity and connection. By attracting visitors during the shoulder season, RWR boosts local businesses, strengthens the economy, and enhances cultural engagement for residents and visitors alike. With city support once again, RWR can expand its reach, sustain its programs, and further establish Rockaway Beach as a premier year-round cultural destination.
-
	Text13: Rockaway Writers Rendezvous (RWR) enhances community well-being by providing educational resources, fostering social connections, and encouraging outdoor recreation. Through workshops, presentations, and interactive sessions, participants develop their writing skills, learn from experienced authors, and explore new creative outlets. These activities stimulate cognitive function, encourage self-expression, and promote mental and emotional resilience.

Beyond its educational impact, RWR strengthens community bonds by bringing together individuals from diverse backgrounds who share a passion for writing and the arts. By offering a welcoming space for creative exchange, networking, and collaboration, the event helps combat isolation and loneliness—especially during the long winter months—both of which are significant risk factors for mental health challenges.

RWR also encourages physical activity and engagement with the natural environment. The event invites participants to explore the scenic beauty of Rockaway Beach, integrating outdoor experiences that promote movement, mindfulness, and overall well-being. Research shows that time in nature reduces stress, enhances mood, and fosters a deeper connection to the environment—an important aspect of holistic health.

By providing enriching educational experiences, fostering social interaction, and encouraging outdoor engagement, RWR serves as a vital contributor to a healthy, thriving community in Rockaway Beach.

	Text14: Rockaway Writers Rendezvous (RWR) actively fosters inclusivity by welcoming writers and creatives of all backgrounds, skill levels, and identities—regardless of age, race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, or disability. Recognizing the arts as a powerful means of self-expression and connection, RWR creates a safe, welcoming space where everyone is encouraged to share their stories and engage with the community.

As an initiative of NCAM, RWR is deeply rooted in Rockaway Beach and the greater Tillamook County community, where small, dispersed towns face unique economic and social challenges. The region is undergoing a transition from traditional industries to a tourism-driven economy, bringing shifts in housing, employment, and demographics. With political and economic divides affecting local dynamics, RWR serves as a unifying force, using the arts to foster community cohesion, cultural expression, and resilience.

To strengthen these connections, NCAM strategically collaborates with local businesses—hotels, vacation rentals, restaurants, and shops—driving year-round economic activity and engagement. Business owners not only benefit from increased patronage but also contribute directly to RWR through in-kind donations, sponsorships, and volunteer support. NCAM’s partnership with the Rockaway Beach Business Association further ensures that arts programming aligns with the needs of the local economy, creating opportunities for sustainable tourism and community involvement (see attached support letter).

RWR embraces a broad definition of inclusivity, recognizing that in predominantly white, rural coastal communities, diversity extends beyond traditional DEI measures. Factors such as class, age, education level, employment type, and residential longevity shape local experiences. NCAM’s leadership reflects this diversity, ensuring that programming remains accessible and relevant to all community members.

By uniting businesses, organizations, and residents, RWR cultivates an inclusive cultural space where diverse perspectives intersect, fostering shared experiences and strengthening social bonds. Volunteers—including high school students, business owners, and retirees—play a crucial role in planning, executing, and fundraising for RWR, further reinforcing its mission to create a thriving, interconnected, and welcoming community.

	Text15: The Rockaway Writers Rendezvous (RWR) strengthens Rockaway’s charitable fabric by raising scholarship funds, fostering volunteerism, and collaborating with local nonprofits. 

Proceeds from RWR support scholarships for Tillamook County high school students pursuing arts-related studies, with awards increasing annually (2023 two scholarships of $500 each; 2024 one of $1000; 2025 aiming for two of $1000 each). NCAM partners with all three county high school districts, engaging students in writing competitions and open-mic performances that showcase their talents.

RWR’s success is driven by dedicated volunteers, ranging from experienced community members to high school students gaining valuable hands-on skills. The Rockaway Beach Volunteers and National Honor Society students generously contribute their time and effort. Additionally, RWR collaborates with local nonprofits, artist collectives, and businesses to expand creative opportunities and amplify community impact. By sharing resources and fostering collaboration, RWR helps sustain a thriving cultural ecosystem, ensuring that artists and organizations receive the support they need to flourish.
	Text16: The Rockaway Writers Rendezvous promotes equity by ensuring access to arts and cultural opportunities for all, regardless of socioeconomic status. While RWR events are ticketed, complimentary tickets are distributed through partner organizations to make participation accessible.

RWR actively engages underserved communities by collaborating with local groups that support residents in need, fostering connections and broadening access. The event creates a welcoming, inclusive space where diverse voices are heard, encouraging creative expression as a tool for empowerment. By removing barriers to participation and prioritizing inclusivity, RWR helps build a more equitable Rockaway Beach.

	Text17: 4,999.99
	Text18: In-kind services for Anthology layout, design, editing, graphics; posters
	Text19: In-kind services, documentation; videography ($500) and photography ($500)
	Text20: In-kind services, website development, design, creation
	Text21: 1,000.01
	Text22: 1,000
	Text23: 1,000
	Text24: 8,000.00
	Text39: 1,850
	Text40:    100
	Text41:    464.99
	Text42: 1,710
	Text43:  
	Text44:    875
	Text45:  1,000.01 
	Text46:  1,000
	Text47:   1,000 
	Text48: 
	Text49: 
	Text50: 
	Text51:  8,000.00
	Text52: Venue rental: Rockaway Community Church, 2 days many events (Y)
	Text60: Venue rental: Lions Club, morning event (Y)
	Text61: Printing: posters and schedules (N)
	Text62: Anthology Printing: Amazon Print-and-Publish, color, 8.5 x 11, 100 pp; (Y)
	Text63:                  75 paperback @$9.00 =$675 and  75 hardcover @$13.00 =$975, shipping 150 books=$60  (Y)  
	Text64: Student contests cash prizes: $100/50/25 for 5 categories = $875
	Text65: Anthology Layout, design, editing, graphics—discount rate by 1888press.com. In-kind (Y)
	Text66: Documentation: Videographer ($500), Photographer ($500). In-kind (Y)
	Text67: Website development. In-kind (Y)
	Text68: Volunteer hours donated—countless already and will be many more!
	Text69: 
	Text70: 


